ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALEX ROBINSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-203769

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Appellate Defender

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUN 18 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by failing to quash the search warrant and suppress the evidence found during the execution of the search warrant when the sworn affidavit was stale as well as contained false and unreliable information, thereby misleading the trial court into issuing the search warrant?

- II. Did the trial court err in refusing to reveal the identity of the confidential informant when it was essential to a fair determination of Appellant's case?

- III. Did the trial court err in refusing to recuse himself, upon motion by Appellant, when the trial court's impartiality might be questioned by ruling on the validity of a search warrant he previously issued?

- IV. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant a new trial where the cumulative effect of the errors were so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 27, 2009, Appellant Alex Robinson was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for trafficking between one-hundred and two-hundred grams of cocaine and failing to stop for a blue light.

On November 7, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by John Hilliard and Julia Bass, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Brad Richardson. Pre-trial, the trial court granted defense counsel's motion to sever the charges, and the State proceeded to trial on the trafficking cocaine charge. R. 3, l. 24 – 19, l. 21.

On November 9, 2011, the jury found Appellant guilty of trafficking between one-hundred and two-hundred grams of cocaine. R. 524, ll. 20-25. The trial court sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years imprisonment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(2)(c) (2008). R. 534, l. 10 – 535, l. 8.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred by failing to quash the search warrant and suppress the evidence found during the execution of the search warrant because the sworn affidavit was stale as well as contained false and unreliable information, thereby misleading the trial court into issuing the search warrant.

Relevant Facts

Pre-trial, defense counsel challenged the sufficiency of the search warrant that was previously issued by the trial court and moved to suppress the evidence found during the execution of the search warrant on September 25, 2008. R. 11, ll. 4-11; R. 30, ll. 6-10. The probable cause section of the search warrant affidavit provides:

A confidential and reliable informant working for the Horry County Police Department purchased a quantity of off white powder substance represented as being cocaine and field-testing positive for cocaine attributes from the occupants of the house identified as [redacted] Stoneybrook Dr in Conway, SC. That the informant has been able to make recent continuous purchases of illegal drugs from this residence

R. 27, ll. 19-25; State's Exhibit # 1 (Search Warrant). Defense counsel argued that, under the totality of the circumstances, the search warrant affidavit and the supplemental oral testimony failed to establish sufficient information to support the trial court's finding of probable cause where: (1) the affiant knew information in the affidavit was false (e.g., the CI did not actually observe the alleged drug transaction); (2) there was no evidence presented to the trial court to verify the reliability of the confidential informant (CI); and (3) the prior alleged observations by the CI were made without listing a single date of when the alleged drug transactions occurred. R. 11, l. 24 – 30, l. 13; R. 47, l. 2 – 57, l. 19.

Contrary to the information contained in the search warrant affidavit, Officer Kent Donald of the Horry County Police Department admitted that the CI *never* purchased

cocaine from the occupants of the residence at Stoneybrook Drive. R. 23, l. 22 – 39, l. 2. Specifically, Officer Donald stated that the CI gave Christopher Oliver the “police buy money” and that on three separate occasions the CI stayed in the car while Oliver allegedly purchased cocaine from individuals inside the Stoneybrook residence. R. 24, l. 14 – 29, l. 25. Officer Donald also revealed that the alleged drug transactions occurred on the following dates: August 15, 2008; August 22, 2008; and September 12, 2008. R. 25, ll. 3-24. Officer Donald further noted that the Return for the search warrant was not signed within the ten day requirement. R. 32, ll. 6-20.

On cross-examination, Officer Donald admitted that, although he prepared and signed the sworn search warrant affidavit, he did *not* inform Judge Cottingham that the CI *never* entered the Stoneybrook residence, or that the CI was *not* the person who allegedly purchased the cocaine from the Stoneybrook residence. R. 37, l. 11 – 40, l. 10. Officer Donald also admitted that he failed to provide Judge Cottingham with any information establishing the reliability of CI as well as the dates for when the alleged drug transactions occurred. R. 40, ll. 11-22; R. 44, l. 24 – 45, l. 2. Officer Donald further noted that he *never* “patted down” Oliver—as required—for drugs prior to the alleged drug transactions. R. 45, l. 3 – 46, l. 8.

After defense counsel listed numerous cases in support of the motion to quash the search warrant and suppression of the evidence,¹ the trial court rejected defense counsel’s argument that the State failed to prove the reliability of the CI and stated: “I’ll be glad for you [defense counsel] to put your cases on the record but I’m not gonna [sic] sit here and have a review of all the cases that I’ve read for the last twenty-seven years.” R. 47, l. 2 – 50,

¹ Court’s Exhibit #1 (Case law submitted by the Defendant).

l. 22. The trial court also gave a further explanation of his ruling:

I'm familiar generally with the cases that you [defense counsel] cited but I respectfully disagree with your position. This affidavit in my opinion then and now is complete and in accordance with the law regarding search warrants. This affiant to the best of his knowledge told the truth. Now, he [Officer Donald] may have told it not exactly as you would have it but he said I'm basing it on reliable information that I received that drugs have been sold from this place on several occasions.

R. 52, ll. 5-12. In response, defense counsel argued, "Your Honor, we would move on three grounds, number one, that there [was] patently on the face of this search warrant incorrect information provided to Your Honor." R. 52, ll. 21-23.

The trial court ruled, "Respectfully rejected. It's not patently information wrong [sic]. *I dealt with that twice now and I'm not gonna [sic] go there again.*" R. 52, l. 24 – 53, l. 1 (emphasis added). Defense counsel also argued that "the information [in the search warrant affidavit was] stale" because "[Officer Donald] did not put any dates in [affidavit]" to prove that the search warrant was issued within the seventy-two hour requirement. R. 53, ll. 2-5. The trial court maintained, "*I don't think the dates were necessary . . . I reject that.*" R. 53, ll. 6-7 (emphasis added). Defense counsel further argued that a police report indicated at least one of the drug transactions occurred at an address other than the address listed in the search warrant affidavit. R. 53, ll. 8-10. The trial court replied:

Now, what he [Officer Donald] may or may not have said in some prior report doesn't concern me. I'm concerned with the truth and accuracy of what he said on this occasion and he said Stoneybrook. . . . As the issuing judge, I'm concerned with what he said today or in that instance.

R. 53, ll. 11-25. The trial court then noted, "My concern, [defense counsel], is whether or not this affiant to the best of his knowledge was telling me the truth on that day. He says he

got this from a reliable and confidential informant.” R. 55, ll. 10-13.

The trial court ruled, “I conclude that [the search warrant affidavit] contains sufficient information for me to issue a bench warrant, I mean, a search warrant, which I did. And I respectfully deny your motion to quash the indictment [search warrant].” R. 55, ll. 16-19. To further support his ruling, the trial court stated, “I think it’s sufficient for me to conclude that the affidavit of this affiant was sufficient and the totality of the information provided is sufficient for the search warrant. *Now, I don’t need any more on this question.*” R. 57, ll. 2-6 (emphasis added).

The cases cited in support of defense counsel’s motion to suppress were later entered into evidence as Court’s Exhibit #1. R. 83, l. 1 – 84, l. 17. After the close of the State’s case, defense counsel noted, “I did not object to the introduction of the powder cocaine into evidence, what I intended and what I meant by that was I did not object to the chain of custody aspect of it. I preserve and reserve my previous objections.” R. 359, ll. 8-12. In response, the trial court stated, “*No, you are protected on the record as to that issue clearly and I understood that it was subject to that objection in fairness to you.*” R. 359, ll. 20-22 (emphasis added). After the jury found Appellant guilty of trafficking cocaine, defense counsel renewed the motion to quash the search warrant and suppression of the evidence found during the execution of that search warrant. R. 531, ll. 2-8. The trial court denied the motion. R. 531, ll. 9-23.

Discussion

A. The affiant knew the information in the search warrant affidavit was false.

In this case, the trial court was misled by the information contained in the search warrant affidavit because the affiant, Officer Donald, knew the information was false. R. 23,

I. 22 – 39, I. 2; State’s Exhibit # 1 (Search Warrant); *See United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984) (citing *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978) (noting that suppression remains an appropriate remedy if the magistrate issuing a warrant was misled by information in an affidavit that the affiant knew was false or would have known was false except for his reckless disregard of the truth)); *Accord United States v. Colkley*, 299 F.2d 297 (4th Cir. 1990); *State v. Missouri*, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (1999).

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure . . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Notably, the South Carolina General Assembly “has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution require an oath or affirmation before probable cause can be found by an officer of the court, and a search warrant issued.” *State v. Jones*, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000); U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Code mandates that a search warrant “shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985).

“The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. *State v. Philpot*, 317 S.C. 458, 454 S.E.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1995). A magistrate may issue a search warrant only upon a finding of probable cause. *State v. Bellamy*, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). The magistrate should determine probable cause based on all of the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued.” *State v. Dupree*, 354 S.C. 676, 684, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Evidence obtained in

violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissible in both state and federal court. *See State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001).

In terms of a circuit court's review of a magistrate's finding of probable cause, “[t]he duty of the reviewing court is to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). In determining whether a substantial basis exists, the crucial element is not whether the target of the search is suspected of a crime, but whether it is reasonable to believe that the items to be seized will be found in the place to be searched. *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 556 & n. 6 (1978). “This determination requires the magistrate to make a practical, common-sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying the information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 150, 561 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2002).

Oral testimony may also be used in this state to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. *See State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997); *see also State v. Sachs*, 364 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501 (1975). However, “[i]n reviewing the validity of a warrant, an appellate court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention.” *State v. Thompson*, 363 S.C. 192, 200, 609 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2005).

In this case, Officer Donald admitted on cross-examination that, although he prepared and signed the sworn search warrant affidavit, he *never* told Judge Cottingham that the CI did *not* enter the Stoneybrook residence, or that the CI was *not* the person who

allegedly purchased the cocaine from the Stoneybrook residence. R. 37, l. 11 – 40, l. 10.

Yet, the probable cause section of the search warrant affidavit provides:

A confidential and reliable informant working for the Horry County Police Department purchased a quantity of off white powder substance represented as being cocaine and field-testing positive for cocaine attributes from the occupants of the house identified as [redacted] Stoneybrook Dr in Conway, SC. That the informant has been able to make recent continuous purchases of illegal drugs from this residence

R. 27, ll. 19-25; State's Exhibit # 1 (Search Warrant). Accordingly, the trial court erred by not suppressing the evidence obtained during the execution of the search warrant because the trial court was misled by information in the sworn affidavit that the affiant knew was false. R. 55, ll. 16-19; R. 57, ll. 2-6; *See Leon*, 468 U.S. at 923 (citing *Franks*, 438 U.S. 154 (noting that suppression remains an appropriate remedy if the magistrate issuing a warrant was misled by information in an affidavit that the affiant knew was false or would have known was false except for his reckless disregard of the truth)); *see also Forrester*, 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

B. The State failed to establish the reliability of the confidential informant.

When a confidential informant is involved, it is necessary to examine the reliability and credibility of the informant for determining the existence of probable cause. *See Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S.-213, 230-235 (1983). In determining whether the information relied upon by law enforcement is reliable, no one factor is necessary or sufficient to establish probable cause. *Id.* Instead, probable cause arises from the totality of the circumstances, and “[a] deficiency in one [factor] may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.” *Id.* As previously noted by our Supreme Court:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, *including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information*, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.

State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 290-91, 494 S.E.2d 801, 802-03 (1997) (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. 213).

In *United States v. Ross*, 456 U.S. 798, 800-801 (1982), the United States Supreme Court found that probable cause existed where a confidential informant, who had *proved to be reliable previously*, provided specific detailed information and officers *observed corroborating evidence*. Specifically, the informant gave a detailed description of the drug dealer, the drug dealer's nickname, the specific address where the drug sales took place, the fact that the informant just witnessed a buy, and a statement by the dealer to the informant that the trunk of the car contained additional drugs. The officers were also able to confirm that a car matching the description provided by the informant was at the address given, the car was registered to an individual who used the alias provided by the informant, and the person seen driving the car matched the description provided by the informant.

In *State v. Peters*, 271 S.C. 498, 500-502, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476-477 (1978), our Supreme Court determined that probable cause existed to search a car where a confidential informant, who had *provided reliable information previously*, told police that a yellow Grand Prix automobile with a white top and a South Carolina license tag with the digits "308" would leave Folly Beach soon with a quantity of marijuana and officers observed a car fitting the description leaving the beach and recognized the driver and passenger as having been involved in illicit drug use previously. *Id.*

In this case, the trial court erroneously found the CI reliable for two reasons. First, the State presented absolutely no evidence to establish the CI's reliability (e.g., whether the CI had previously provided reliable information to law enforcement regarding illegal activity). Second, the trial court committed reversible error by refusing to reveal the CI's identity, so that defense counsel could cross-examine the CI about the alleged drug transactions. R. 47, l. 2 – 50, l. 22. The trial court stated: "I'll be glad for you [defense counsel] to put your cases on the record but I'm not gonna [sic] sit here and have a review of all the cases that I've read for the last twenty-seven years." R. 47, l. 2 – 50, l. 22. The trial court also gave an explanation of his ruling:

I'm familiar generally with the cases that you [defense counsel] cited but I respectfully disagree with your position. This affidavit in my opinion then and now is complete and in accordance with the law regarding search warrants. *This affiant to the best of his knowledge told the truth.* Now, he [Officer Donald] may have told it not exactly as you would have it but he said *I'm basing it on reliable information that I received that drugs have been sold from this place on several occasions.*

R. 52, ll. 5-12 (emphasis added). Therefore, the reliability of the CI was *never* established because the trial court could not make a "common sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, *including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information*, [that] there [was] a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found [at the address listed in the search warrant]." *Weston*, 329 S.C. at 290-91, 494 S.E.2d at 802-03 (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. 213).

C. The search warrant affidavit failed to list the dates of the alleged drug transactions.

In this case, defense counsel also argued that "the information [alleged in the search warrant affidavit was] stale" because "[Officer Donald] did not put any dates in [affidavit]"

to prove that the search warrant was issued within the seventy-two hour requirement. R. 53, ll. 2-5. The trial court erroneously held, “*I don’t think the dates were necessary . . . I reject that.*” R. 53, ll. 6-7 (emphasis added).

At the suppression hearing, Officer Donald revealed that the alleged drug transactions occurred on the following dates: August 15, 2008; August 22, 2008; and September 12, 2008. R. 25, ll. 3-24. Officer Donald further noted that the Return for the search warrant was not signed within the ten day requirement. R. 32, ll. 6-20. The search warrant was issued by the trial court on September 17, 2008, and executed by law enforcement on September 25, 2008. *See State’s Exhibit # 1 (Search Warrant).*

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