ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2011-203769

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ALEX LORENZO ROBINSON,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 30 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2011-203769

---

THE STATE,

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

---

<sup>3</sup> Notably, the search warrant was issued for a specific address and not a person, and Appellant’s name was not mentioned in the search warrant affidavit. (R. pp. 543-547).

<sup>4</sup> In arguing a trial judge should be disqualified from ruling on the validity of a search warrant that the trial judge personally issued, Appellant primarily relies upon the decision of the Mississippi Court of Appeals in Brent v. State, 929 So. 2d 952 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In that case, the trial judge presiding over Brent’s trial issued the search warrant at issue in Brent’s case and had previously prosecuted Brent while serving as an assistant district attorney. Id. at 955. After considering the circumstances of Brent’s case, the Mississippi Court of Appeals concluded the trial judge’s partiality might and should reasonably be questioned under those circumstances and, as a result, reversed the trial judge’s decision not to recuse himself. Id. at 955. Significantly though, unlike the analysis applied by the Missouri Court of Appeals, parties seeking recusal in South Carolina must present actual evidence of bias or prejudice and cannot simply rely on the possibility of partiality when seeking the disqualification of a trial judge. See Jackson, 353 S.C. at 627, 578 S.E.2d at 745 (“It is not enough for a party seeking disqualification to simply allege bias or prejudice.”). Furthermore, numerous other appellate courts have reached a starkly different conclusion than the Mississippi Court of Appeals, with the overwhelming majority of courts that have considered the issue determining the issuance of a search warrant does not automatically prevent the issuing judge from considering the validity of the warrant in a subsequent proceeding. See Heard v. State, 574 So. 2d 873, 875 (Ala. Crim. App. 1990) (“[A]bsent a showing of prejudice, an issuing magistrate may

judge was biased *solely* because he ruled against a defendant is untenable and insulting towards the court, and it would set a dangerous precedent were we to sanction it.” (italics in original)). Demonstrating the erroneous nature of such an assumption, courts in South Carolina have historically and consistently recognized judges are capable of reconsidering the judicial determinations they have previously made without being rendered impartial by virtue of making those determinations. See State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 520, 369 S.E.2d 842, 843 (1988) (“A ruling on the motion is not the ultimate disposition on the admissibility of evidence. It remains subject to change based upon developments during trial.”); see also Rule 221, SCACR (outlining the procedure for petitioning an appellate court for rehearing following the issuance of the court’s decision). However, assuming Appellant was somehow correct on the potential for bias

---

properly serve as the trial judge on the same cause.”); Holloway v. State, 293 Ark. 438, 441, 738 S.W.2d 796, 798 (Ark. 1987) (holding a trial judge who issued a search warrant is not required to recuse himself from subsequently determining the propriety of that warrant during trial); Heidt v. State, 292 Ga. 343, 347-348, 736 S.E.2d 384, 389-390 (Ga. 2013) (finding no error in the denial of a motion to recuse the trial judge on the basis that he had previously issued two search warrants and several orders in Heidt’s case because “the involvement of the trial judge with the issuance of search warrants and orders for records was directly related to Heidt’s case and was not ‘extra-judicial’ ”); People v. Antoine, 335 Ill. App. 3d 562, 573, 781 N.E.2d 444, 454 (Ill. App. Ct. 2002) (“That [the trial judge] presided over the warrant proceedings and issued the search warrant is not sufficient alone to establish prejudice.”); Bussell v. Commonwealth, 882 S.W.2d 111, 112 (Ky. 1994) (“The second allegation in the recusal motion was that the trial judge had ruled on an ex parte motion for a search warrant. This claim is without merit. Recusal is appropriate only when the information is obtained from an extrajudicial source.”); State v. Poole, 472 N.W.2d 195, 197 (Minn. Ct. App. 1991) (holding a trial judge who issues a search warrant is not automatically precluded from subsequently considering the validity of the warrant ); State v. Pointer, 135 N.J. Super 472, 480, 343 A.2d 762, 766 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1975) (finding no merit to the contention that a judge who issued a warrant was required to disqualify himself from considering a subsequent motion to suppress); People v. McCann, 85 N.Y.2d 951, 952-953 (N.Y. 1995) (holding a trial judge was not required to recuse himself from ruling on the validity of a search warrant that he issued, finding there is no basis to conclude a trial judge reviewing a search warrant under those circumstances would give the issue anything less than fair and impartial consideration, and further noting a trial judge’s decision in regards to a warrant he issued is nonetheless subject to appellate review); State v. Monserrate, 125 N.C. App. 22, 32-33, 479 S.E.2d 494, 501 (N.C. Ct. App. 1997) (holding a trial judge who issued a search warrant is not automatically required to recuse himself from subsequently ruling on the validity of the search warrant); Kemp v. State, 846 S.W.2d 289, 306 (Tex. Crim. App. 1992) (“The mere fact that a trial judge issued a defendant’s search or arrest warrant, alone, does not establish bias against the defendant in a subsequent criminal proceeding[.]”); State v. Chamberlain, 161 Wash. 2d 30, 37, 162 P.3d 389, 392 (Wash. 2007) (finding no error in the trial judge’s decision to decline to recuse himself in a case where he issued the search warrant that was subsequently challenged during trial and stating “[e]vidence of a judge’s actual or potential bias must be shown before an appearance of fairness claim will succeed”).

that could result from a trial judge reviewing a search warrant he issued, the mere possibility the trial judge's earlier decision to issue the warrant might raise a question regarding the trial judge's partiality is not sufficient to disqualify the trial judge from presiding over the trial without some actual evidence of prejudice or bias. See Langford, 400 S.C. at 438, 735 S.E.2d at 480 (recognizing "[t]he right to a judge who is free from the mere *appearance* of partiality is not part of due process at all" (italics and brackets in original and citation and internal quotations marks omitted)). As a result, since Appellant has not identified any specific evidence of the trial judge's bias or prejudice against him aside from the trial judge's earlier judicial ruling on the search warrant, the trial judge had an affirmative duty to decline to recuse himself and preside over Appellant's trial. See Simpson, 377 S.C. at 525-526, 660 S.E.2d at 278 ("When disqualification is not required, the South Carolina Code of Judicial Conduct holds, 'A judge *shall* hear and decide matters assigned to the judge . . .'" (italics in original and citation omitted)).

Appellant has failed to meet his burden of establishing evidence of bias or prejudice on the part of the trial judge, and no evidence was presented suggesting the trial judge could not be fair and impartial in Appellant's case. See Jackson, 353 S.C. at 627, 578 S.E.2d at 745 ("The party must show some evidence of that bias or prejudice."). The fact that the trial judge issued a search warrant in Appellant's case did **not** establish the trial judge was biased or prejudiced against Appellant and, thus, did not disqualify the trial judge from ruling on the validity of the search warrant. Accordingly, as there is a total lack of evidence of bias, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to recuse himself from further participation in Appellant's trial. See id. ("If there is no evidence of judicial bias or prejudice, a judge's failure to disqualify himself will not be reversed on appeal."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### IV.

**Any issue regarding the applicability of the cumulative error doctrine was not preserved for appellate review and abandoned because Appellant did not raise any issue in regards to cumulative error during trial and, instead, raised the issue for the first time on appeal in a conclusory and unsupported manner. Regardless, Appellant's trial was not rendered unfair as a result of any errors, cumulative or otherwise, and none of the errors identified by Appellant as rendering his trial unfair actually constituted an error.**

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred by not granting a new trial based on the cumulative effect that a number of alleged errors had on the fairness of the trial. Without presenting any specific argument to establish any actual errors occurred, Appellant maintains several alleged errors collectively deprived him of a fair trial. Initially, any issue regarding the applicability of the cumulative error doctrine was not properly preserved for appellate review because that issue was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge. Additionally, even if the issue was somehow preserved for review, Appellant abandoned the issue on appeal by merely raising a conclusory and unsupported argument on the issue. Furthermore, regardless of any concerns regarding issue preservation and abandonment, the cumulative error doctrine was not applicable to Appellant's case because none of the alleged errors identified by Appellant as collectively depriving him of a fair trial actually constituted an error. As Appellant's trial was not rendered unfair by any alleged error, cumulative or otherwise, the trial judge did not err by not granting Appellant a new trial following the jury's verdict. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### **A. Issue Preservation and Abandonment**

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v.

Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial judge, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); see also State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments.**” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000) (emphasis added).

Likewise, “conclusory statements unaccompanied by argument and citation to authority are insufficient to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 399, n. 1, 621 S.E.2d 890, 893 (Ct. App. 2005). “An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” Howard, 384 S.C. at 217, 682 S.E.2d at 45. Appellate courts will not consider arguments or issues raised on appeal in a conclusory or

unsupported manner. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 400 S.C. 246, 252, n. 3, 734 S.E.2d 161, 164 (2012).

In the case sub judice, Appellant failed to preserve any issue in regards to the cumulative effect of the errors he contended occurred during trial because Appellant did not raise any issue regarding cumulative error to the trial judge and never contended to the trial judge that the alleged errors taken together adversely impacted his constitutional right to a fair trial. See Patterson, 324 S.C. at 19, 482 S.E.2d at 767 (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); see also In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). Because Appellant did not raise an argument regarding the cumulative effect of the alleged errors to the trial judge, Appellant is precluded from raising such an argument for the first time on appeal. See West v. Morehead, 396 S.C. 1, 14, 720 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Appellants make arguments and cite authorities in their briefs that were not presented to the trial court. These arguments are not preserved.”); see also State v. Senter, 396 S.C. 547, 555, 722 S.E.2d 233, 237 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Because Senter failed to raise this argument to the trial court, it is not preserved for our review.”).

However, even assuming the issue regarding cumulative error was somehow preserved during trial despite the fact Appellant did not raise the issue to the trial judge, Appellant abandoned the issue on appeal by merely raising a conclusory argument in support of his appellate contentions. Significantly, on appeal, Appellant contends several specified errors taken together cumulatively deprived him of his constitutional right to a fair trial. However, aside from merely identifying four errors that allegedly occurred during trial, Appellant has not presented any argument or supporting authority to

establish the **alleged** errors constituted **actual** errors. In light of the conclusory and unsupported manner in which the issue has been raised on appeal, any issue regarding the cumulative effect of the alleged errors has been abandoned and, thus, cannot properly be considered on appeal. See State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a conclusory, unsupported argument was abandoned on appeal); see also State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 551, n. 1, 211 S.E.2d 868, 869 (1975) (“ ‘The burden of proof is on the appellant to convince this Court that the lower court was in error.’ ” (citation omitted)). Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, Appellant failed to meet his burden of establishing his trial was rendered unfair by the cumulative effect of errors he claims occurred during trial. See State v. Huggins, 336 S.C. 200, 205, 519 S.E.2d 574, 577 (1999) (“It is well-settled that issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

#### **B. Propriety of the Trial Judge’s Allegedly-Erroneous Rulings**

Pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine, a criminal defendant may be entitled to reversal if he can demonstrate that errors occurred during trial **and** those errors taken together adversely affected his right to a fair trial. State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999). However, an argument based on the cumulative error doctrine necessarily must fail if the defendant cannot meet his burden of establishing any errors actually occurred. State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 290, 350 S.E.2d 180, 186 (1986). Furthermore and significantly, a criminal defendant is only constitutionally entitled to a fair trial and not a perfect one. State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 149, 731 S.E.2d 604, 616 (Ct. App. 2012); see State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 29, 732 S.E.2d 880, 891 (2012) (“[A] defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one.”).

In the case at bar, notwithstanding the fact that the issue regarding the cumulative error doctrine was not preserved for appellate review and has been abandoned on appeal, Appellant failed to establish his trial was rendered unfair as a result of the cumulative effect of the errors he identified in a conclusory fashion on appeal. Critically, the reason why those errors could not have rendered Appellant's trial unfair is that none of the errors Appellant identified as collectively warranting reversal actually constituted an error.

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